ON WAPP

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO: 80,414

DONG FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 23 1992

CLERN SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

1018

GREAT SOUTHERN BANK,

Petitioner,

vs.

FIRST SOUTHERN BANK, a Florida Banking Corp.,

Respondent.

On Certified Question from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID BAKER and GEORGE ORD, of
ALLEY, MAASS, ROGERS & LINDSAY, P.A.
321 Royal Poinciana Plaza, South
P.O. Box 431
Palm Beach, FL 33480-0431
(407) 659-1770
and
LARRY KLEIN
KLEIN & WALSH, P.A.
Suite 503 - Flagler Center
501 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 659-5455

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

First Southern Bank sued Great Southern Bank in the Circuit Court for Palm Beach County, seeking injunctive relief resulting from the similarity of their names (R 1). The case was tried before the court, which entered a final judgment on December 17, 1990, enjoining defendant, Great Southern Bank, from continuing to use its name or any name similar to it (R 245).

Defendant appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which affirmed, and on rehearing certified the following question as being of great public importance (A 1):

IS THE NAME "FIRST SOUTHERN BANK" DESCRIPTIVE OR GENERIC, AND THEREFORE NOT ENTITLED TO PROTECTION IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF THAT IT HAS ACQUIRED A SECONDARY MEANING?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiff, First Southern Bank, alleged in its complaint that it opened for business on September 14, 1987, as a bank operating

under that name. It further alleged that the defendant, Great Southern Bank, adopted its name in November of 1988. Plaintiff, First Southern Bank, alleged that its name had acquired a secondary and special meaning, and that it was entitled to an injunction against Great Southern Bank using its name (R 140). Plaintiff, First Southern Bank, is in Boca Raton. Defendant, Great Southern Bank, is in Lantana. They are 20 miles apart (R 3).

It was the defendant's position in the trial and appellate court that plaintiff's name, First Southern Bank, was generic, descriptive or geographic, and not entitled to protection in the absence of proof that it had acquired a secondary meaning. The trial court concluded that the name, First Southern Bank, was arbitrary or fanciful, and protectible even in the absence of proof that it had acquired a secondary meaning. The trial court granted injunctive relief to First Southern Bank and ordered Great Southern Bank to cease the use of its name (R 245).

Great Southern Bank appealed to the Fourth District, again maintaining that the name First Southern Bank was descriptive or generic, and not entitled to protection in the absence of a secondary meaning. The majority of the Fourth District affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the name was arbitrary or fanciful, with a dissenting opinion (A 3). On rehearing, the court certified the issue as one of great public importance (A 1).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question of whether a name is protected depends on which of four categories it falls in. The four categories are: 1) fictitious, arbitrary or fanciful; 2) suggestive; 3) descriptive or geographic; 4) generic. Names in the first two categories are protected without the necessity of the plaintiff establishing a secondary meaning. Generic names are not protected at all. Descriptive or geographic names are only protected if the plaintiff establishes that its name has acquired a secondary meaning.

The name First Southern Bank is not fictitious, arbitrary or fanciful. It is generic, descriptive and geographic. The Fourth District, therefore, erred in concluding that it was entitled to protection in the absence of a finding of fact that it had acquired a secondary meaning.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

IS THE NAME "FIRST SOUTHERN BANK" DESCRIPTIVE OR GENERIC, AND THEREFORE NOT ENTITLED TO PROTECTION IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF THAT IT HAS ACQUIRED A SECONDARY MEANING?

The law appears to be well established in Florida as well as other jurisdictions that generic, geographical or descriptive names are not protected unless they have acquired a secondary meaning.

Gaeta Cromwell, Inc. v. Banyan Lakes Village, 523 So.2d 624 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 531 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1988); American Bank

of Merritt Island v. First American Bank and Trust, 455 So.2d 443 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 461 So.2d 114 (Fla. 1984). Williamson v. Answer Phone of Jacksonville, Inc., 118 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960). See also, Quality Courts United v. Jones, 59 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1952).

The precise issue of whether a name such as First Southern Bank is generic, descriptive or geographical, and thus not entitled to protection in the absence of a secondary meaning, has not yet been determined in Florida. The trial court cited <u>Gaeta</u>, <u>supra</u>, in which the issue was whether the name Congress Park, as applied to an office building complex, was generic, descriptive or geographical. The Fourth District held that the name Congress Park was arbitrary as used in this context because the word Congress has a meaning unrelated to office buildings, i.e. the legislative body. In contrast, Southern Bank only means one thing - a bank in a geographical area. If, in <u>Gaeta</u>, the name of the park was Southern Park, instead of Congress Park, it would clearly not have been entitled to protection in the absence of proof of a secondary meaning.

Plaintiff relied heavily on <u>American Bank of Merritt Island</u>, <u>supra</u>; however, that case does not support plaintiff's position.

Although plaintiff was seeking relief both under the common law and Section 495.51, Florida Statutes, plaintiff conceded that these claims were identical, requiring the same elements of proof (R 193, footnote 11).

American Bank alleged in the complaint that it had established a secondary meaning, which would entitle it to protection even if its name was merely descriptive or geographic. The Fifth District held that the complaint stated a cause of action. The Fifth District pointed out, in footnote 8 on page 448, that there is a split of authority on whether the word American is protectible in the absence of secondary meaning. The Eleventh Circuit, in a Florida case, has held that the name "American Television Communications Corporation" is not protectible in the absence of secondary meaning. That name was held to be merely a combination of generic and descriptive terms. American Television and Communications Corp. v. American Communications and Television, Inc., 810 F.2d 1546 (11th Cir. 1987).

In American Heritage Life Ins. Co. v. Heritage Life Ins. Co., 494 F.2d 3 (5th Cir. 1974), the Fifth Circuit decided in a Florida case that the name American Heritage Life Insurance Company is generic or descriptive and not protectible unless it has acquired a secondary meaning. It is thus rather ironic that in American Bank of Merritt Island, supra, the Fifth District held that when American is used with bank it is not necessarily a generic term, while at the same time citing Federal cases. It appears clear from the American Television and American Heritage cases, supra, that the Eleventh Circuit would have concluded that the name American Bank is not protectible.

In <u>Sun Banks of Florida</u>, <u>Inc. v. Sun Federal Sav. and Loan Ass'n</u>, 651 F.2d 311 (5th Cir.), <u>reh. denied</u>, 659 F.2d 1079 (5th Cir. 1981), Sun Banks had obtained an injunction at the trial level against Sun Federal Savings and Loan using its name. In reversing, the court held that even if Sun Bank was an arbitrary name, it was still too weak to be protected. The Fifth Circuit pointed out that over 4,400 businesses registered with the Florida Secretary of State had the word "Sun" in their names, and that a significant number were financial institutions. Similarly, in the present case defendant introduced in evidence a Florida Secretary of State print-out of corporations having Southern or First as the first word in their name. There were 6,067 corporations in Florida which started their name with Southern. There were 23 banks or savings and loans alone in Florida beginning with Southern.² There were

2

^{1.} Southern Capital Savings & Loan Association;

^{2.} Southern Floridabanc Savings Association;

Southern Home Savings Bank;

^{4.} Southern Industrial Savings Bank;

^{5.} Southern Industrial Savings Bank of Orlando;

^{6.} Southern Bancorp, Inc.;

^{7.} Southern Bancorp;

^{8.} Southern Bancorporation of Alabama;

^{9.} Southern Bank Corp., Inc.;

^{10.} Southern Bank of Broward County;

^{11.} Southern Bankcard Corporation;

^{12.} Southern Bankcard;

^{13.} Southern Bank of Central Florida;

^{14.} Southern Banks of Florida, Inc;

^{15.} Southern Bank of St. Petersburg;

^{16.} Southern Bank of Tallahassee (The)

^{17.} Southern Bank and Trust Co.;

^{18.} Southern Bank of West Palm Beach;

^{19.} Southern Commerce Bank;

^{20.} Southern Exchange Bank;

^{21.} Southern Florida Bancorporation;

^{22.} Southern Industrial Bank of Jacksonville;

^{23.} Southern Interim Bank.

5,607 corporations beginning with First and 238 banks or savings and loans alone beginning with First (def. ex. 5).

Despite the common use of the words North, East, South, and West in the names of banks or other businesses, our research does not reveal one case in which the use of one of those names along with a generic term such as bank has been protected. The opinion of the Fourth District in the present case is the first instance this type of bank name has been held to be arbitrary or fanciful in Florida or any other jurisdiction.

Arbitrary or fanciful names, which are entitled to protection in the absence of secondary meaning, are names such as Kodak or Xerox. They are words which have been invented to identify a product or service. Freedom Sav. and Loan Ass'n v. Way, 757 F.2d 1176, 1186 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 845, 106 S.Ct. 134, 88 L.Ed.2d 110 (1985); Gaeta, supra.

Generic names communicate information about the nature or class of an article or service (e.g. "shredded wheat", "light beer"). Kellogg Co. v. National Biscuit Co, 305 U.S. 111, 59 S.Ct. 109, 83 L.Ed. 73 (1938). True generic terms can never become a protectible service mark or trademark. Sun Banks, supra.

There are two cases which are on all fours with the present case, in which the courts have held that names similar to those in the present case are generic, geographical or descriptive and are not protectible.

In <u>First Southern Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Mobile, Ala.</u>
v. <u>First Southern Sav. and Loan Ass'n of Jackson County, Miss.</u>, 614
F.2d 71 (5th Cir. 1980), the two savings and loans with similar names were operating in adjoining states and had offices within 25 miles of each other. In holding that there was no protection, the Fifth Circuit stated on page 74:

As a general rule generic and geographical names are not subject to trade name protection. Dixie Oil Co. v. Picayune "66" Oil Co., 245 So.2d 839, 841 (Miss. 1971) ("Dixie" not subject to protection); Staple Cotton Co-operative Association v. Federal Staple Cotton Co-Operative Association, 249 Miss. 465, 162 So.2d 867, 869 (1964). Because "First Southern" is a combination of a generic and a geographical term, we conclude that it is not subject to protection under Mississippi common law.

Although the Fifth Circuit was applying Mississippi law, it is clear from the cases cited by the Fifth Circuit that Mississippi law is the same as Florida law.

In <u>Western Bank v. Western Bancorporation</u>, 47 Or.App. 191, 617 P.2d 258 (1980), plaintiff Western Bank operated 34 branches in various parts of Oregon and the defendant Western Bancorporation was a bank holding company which intended to use the mark Western

Bankcard on a bank card to be marketed throughout Oregon. The court stated on page 260:

Because the words "Western Bank" are geographically descriptive words, to prove a protectible interest in the name plaintiff first had to establish that the name carries a "secondary meaning," independent of the ordinary meaning of the words comprising it, which identifies the name with plaintiff among a substantial number of plaintiff's customers or prospective customers.

Can there be any argument that the word "Bank" is not generic, or that the word "Southern" is not geographic, or that the word "First" is not generic or descriptive? The name First Southern Bank is no more protectible than the name Southern Fried Chicken. The Fourth District's conclusion that these words are fictitious, arbitrary, or fanciful (such as Kodak or Xerox) is not supported by the case law or the ordinary meanings of the three words making up the name. The opinion of the Fourth District is incorrect and creates confusion. It is, therefore, respectfully submitted that this court should quash the opinion of the Fourth District and clear up what is presently a confusing area of the law in this state.

CONCLUSION

The opinion of the Fourth District should be quashed, and the injunction reversed.

DAVID BAKER and GEORGE ORD, of ALLEY, MAASS, ROGERS & LINDSAY, P.A. 321 Royal Poinciana Plaza S. P.O. Box 431 Palm Beach, FL 33480-0431 (407) 659-1770 and LARRY KLEIN KLEIN & WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center

501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

LARRY KLEIN

Florida Bar No. 043381