IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,414

## GREAT SOUTHERN BANK,

Petitioner,

vs.

FIRST SOUTHERN BANK, a Florida banking corporation,

On Certified Question From The Fourth District Court of Appeal

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF** 

Respectfully Submitted,

CARUANA, GORDON and LANGAN, P.A. LAWRENCE S. GORDON, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 382361 ROBERT H. MILLER, JR., ESQ. Florida Bar No. 879967 Attorneys for Respondent 1000 Courthouse Tower 44 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 TELEPHONE: (305) 371-7972

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial and appellate courts correctly determined that the trade name "First Southern Bank" is entitled to protection under the Florida Anti-dilution Statutes \$495.151 and therefore granted injunctive relief against the dilution of that name by use of the name "Great Southern Bank." The criteria utilized to determine whether a trade name is entitled to such protection under the Florida Statutes include: type of service mark; similarity in

services; similarity of mark; identity of purchaser; similarity in advertising campaigns; prior use; defendant's intention; and actual confusion. <u>Freedom Savings & Loan Association v. Way</u>, 757 F.2d 1176 (11th Cir. 1985). No one of these factors is pre-eminent, nor is it necessary to demonstrate that all of these factors lie in favor of the plaintiff in order to find that a mark or a name is entitled to protection. <u>Armco, Inc. v. Armco Burglar Alarm Co.</u>, 693 F.2d 1155 (5th Cir. 1982). Nonetheless, Respondent has met <u>all</u> of the criteria supporting protection under Florida Statutes §495.151.

Respondent to Petitioner's assertions, has Contrary demonstrated that "First Southern Bank" is a fictitious, arbitrary or fanciful name, and therefore entitled to fullest protection. Gold Kist, Inc. v. Conagra, Inc., 708 F. Supp. 1291 (N.D. GA 1989). The term is not generic, descriptive or geographical. See Vision Center v. Opticks, Inc., 596 F.2d 111 (5th Cir. 1979). The banking services offered by First Southern Bank and Great Southern Bank are not only similar, but are identical, as demonstrated in the record. Furthermore, the evidence presented indicates that the two names or marks are similar in appearance, sound and meaning. Additionally, there is identity of purchasers as the two banks offered their identical services in an overlapping market. See Exxon Corp. v. Texas Motor Exchange of Houston, Inc., 628 F.2d 500 (5th Cir. The record demonstrates similarity in advertising 1980).

8

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

campaigns, and establishes that the Defendant/Appellee/Petitioner intended to capitalize on resulting confusion by adopting a confusingly similar name. Further, the record demonstrates the prior use by the Respondent of the name being protected.

On the basis of the evidence, the trial court determined that "First Southern Bank" is a protected name and entitled to injunctive relief to prevent the competing use of the name "Great Southern Bank." Based upon the abundance of evidence that First Southern Bank is entitled to relief under Florida Statute §495.151, the trial court entered its injunction. (R. 245). An appeal ensued and the Fourth District affirmed the trial court's conclusion in favor of First Southern Bank. Petitioner is unable to demonstrate that the findings of the trial and appellate courts were clearly erroneous, and on that basis, the opinion below must be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT AND THE FOURTH DISTRICT PROPERLY FOUND THAT RESPONDENT "FIRST SOUTHERN BANK"  $\mathbf{IS}$ AN ARBITRARY NAME, ENTITLED TO PROTECTION UNDER FLORIDA STATUTE §495.151 WHERE PETITIONER "GREAT SOUTHERN BANK" OFFERS IDENTICAL BANKING SERVICES IN AN OVERLAPPING MARKET, RESULTING IN THE LIKELIHOOD OF CONFUSION OR DILUTION OF THE RESPONDENT'S NAME.

The trial court determined, upon presentation of witness testimony and exhibits entered into evidence by the parties, that the name "Great Southern Bank" is similar to the name "First

9

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

Southern Bank" and that the "First Southern Bank" was the first to The court found that because of the similarity use that name. between the names in an overlapping market of identical services, "there exists a likelihood of injury to the business reputation or dilution of the trade name 'First Southern Bank'." (R. 245). Accordingly, the court concluded that First Southern Bank is entitled to protection under Florida Statutes §495.151. This conclusion, based upon the evidence presented and affirmed by the Fourth District, should not be disturbed absent a showing that the trial court's finding was clearly erroneous. See Freedom Savings & Loan Association v. Way, 757 F.2d 1176 (11th Cir. 1985), cert. denied 474 U.S. 845 (1985); Armco Inc. v. Armco Burglar Alarm Co., 693 F.2d 1155 (5th Cir. 1982). In this case, the trial court's conclusion, based upon the governing criteria, was not clearly erroneous, but eminently correct. A judgment by the trial court, as well as the findings in support thereof, are generally presumed to be correct. Alford v. Barnett National Bank, 188 So. 322 (Fla. 1939); Strawgate v. Turner, 339 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1976); In Re: Estate of Donner, 364 So.2d 742 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). Even if there had been any doubt as to the correctness of the ruling below, such doubt was properly resolved in favor of the action of the trial court and affirmed. Atlantic C.L.R. Company v. Baynard, 151 So. 5 (Fla. 1933); Greenwood v. Oates, 251 So.2d 665 (Fla. 1971). There is nothing in the record nor in Florida statutes which suggests

10

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

that the result in this matter should be other than that arrived at by the trial court.

Section 495.151 of the Florida Statutes provides, in pertinent part;

Every person . . . adopting and using a . . . trade name . . . may proceed by suit, and all courts having jurisdiction thereof shall grant injunctions, to enjoin subsequent use by another of the same or any similar . . . trade name . . . if it appears to the court that there exists likelihood of а injury to business reputation or of dilution of the distinctive quality of . . . trade name . . . of the prior user, notwithstanding the absence competition between the parties or of of confusion as to the source of . . . services. (emphasis added)

Petitioner would have this Court believe that the only criterion in determining whether First State Bank is entitled to protection under \$495.151 is bright-line categorical а determination of the name "First State Bank." This totally ignores the law that a determination of the likelihood of confusion regarding a given trade name depends on several criteria. See Freedom Savings & Loan Association v. Way, 757 F.2d 1176 (11th Cir. 1985); Gaeta Cromwell, Inc. v. Banyan Lakes Village, 523 So.23 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). These criteria include: type of service mark; similarity in services; similarity of mark; identity of purchasers; similarity in advertising campaigns; defendant's intention and actual confusion. Freedom Savings & Loan Association, supra. А "finding of likelihood of confusion need not be supported by a

11

majority" of the factors enumerated. <u>Armco, Inc. supra</u>, 693 F.2d at 1159. "No factor is pre-eminent, nor is the existence or lack of any one factor determinative of the outcome." <u>Gold Kist, Inc.</u> <u>v. Conagra, Inc.</u>, 708 F. Supp. 1291, 1296 (N.D. GA 1989) (analyzing the analogous Federal and Georgia statutes regarding trademark infringement and trade practices). Indeed, the court must evaluate the total picture, including the factors enumerated above. <u>Armco,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, 693 F.2d at 1160.

Based upon the totality of the facts presented, the courts below determined that First Southern Bank's mark comes within the ambit of Florida Statute §495.151. As discussed above, this determination should not be reversed without a showing that the trial court's judgment was clearly erroneous, particularly after the Fourth District has concluded that no such showing was made.

In its initial brief, Petitioner has ignored all but one of the factors to be considered, arguing that "First Southern Bank" is not the "strong" type of mark that deserves protection. This argument is erroneous as demonstrated below. Moreover, the relative strength of the mark must be viewed along with all other factors. <u>Freedom Savings & Loan Association, supra</u>, 757 F.2d at 1182-1186. These factors will be addressed below. The trial court in this case, weighing the facts, concluded that First Southern Bank was entitled to the protection of §495.151 of the Florida Statutes.

12

#### TYPE OF MARK

Petitioner is correct in alleging that First Southern Bank's entitlement to enjoin Great Southern Bank from continuing to use that name may depend, in part, upon whether the name "First Southern Bank" is: (1) fictitious, arbitrary or fanciful; (2) suggestive; (3) descriptive or geographic; or (4) generic. The first two of these categories are afforded the highest protection. The third category is protected only when a name has acquired a secondary meaning, and the fourth category is afforded no protection. Gaeta Cromwell, Inc. v. Banyan Lakes Village, 523 So.2d 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), rev. denied, 531 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1988), and Dieter v. D & H Industries of Southwest Florida, Inc., 880 F.2d 322 (11th Cir. 1989). However, Petitioner is incorrect in attempting to categorize "First Southern Bank" as anything other than fictitious, arbitrary or fanciful, as determined by the trial and appellate courts.

An arbitrary or fanciful mark is a "word in common use, but applied to a product or service unrelated to its meaning, so that the word neither describes nor suggests the product or service." <u>Gold Kist, Inc., supra, 708 F. Supp. at 1296 (quoting Jellibeans Inc. v. Skating Clubs of Georgia, Inc., 716 F.2d 833, 841 n.18</u> (11th Cir. 1983)); <u>see also Freedom Savings & Loan Association v.</u> <u>Way</u>, 757 F.2d 1176, 1183 (11th Cir. 1985). In other words, the words do not actually describe the product being sold or any

13

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

specific trait of the product. <u>Gold Kist, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, 708 F. Supp. at 1296.

Petitioner has attempted to argue that "First Southern Bank" is a generic term, deserving no protection, rather than an arbitrary or fanciful term. This argument confuses words in common usage (as part of an arbitrary trade name) and generic words. While "first" and "southern" are commonly used words and clearly understood by the general public, as a matter of law they are not "generic" for purposes of protection of the trade or service mark. A generic term "functions as the common descriptive name of a product class." A. J. Canfield Company v. Honickman, 808 F.2d 291, 296 (3d Cir. 1986). Unlike the terms "aspirin" or "cellophane" which have been ruled to be generic because they now are understood by the public to refer to all pills of acetyl salicylic acid or clear plastic protective wrapping, neither "first" nor "southern" are understood by the public to refer solely to the services provided by the Respondent. See Id.; Zatarianis, Inc. v. Oak Groves Smokehouse, Inc., 698 F.2d 786 (5th Cir. 1983).

Neither is Petitioner correct in attempting to characterize the term "First Southern Bank" as descriptive or geographic. To be descriptive, a name must describe the product or services provided. <u>E.q. Vision Center v. Opticks, Inc.</u>, 596 F.2d 111 (5th Cir. 1979) (vision describes the center's services); <u>see also Kellogg Co. v.</u> National Biscuit Co., 305 U.S. 111 (1938) ("shredded wheat"

14

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

describes the product). The terms "first" or "southern" or the combination thereof as "first southern" in no way describe the nature of the services provided by the appellee bank. Nothing in either term nor the conjunction thereof describes banking services. <u>See Investacorp, Inc. v. Arabian Investment Banking Corp.</u> (Investcorp), E.C., 722 F. Supp. 719 (S.D. FL 1989).

Neither can the term "first southern" be held properly to be geographic in nature. Again, Petitioner appears to look at the word "southern" and assume that, because it refers to a direction on the compass, it is geographic in nature. As a matter of law, this is not the case. For example, the court in American Bank of Merritt Island v. First American Bank and Trust, 455 So.2d 443 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984) points out that courts generally hold that the term "american" is not geographical at all because it is not used to distinguish geographically one product or service from a similar product or service of foreign denomination. "First Southern" with regard to banking services does not by any stretch of the imagination indicate that this banking institution is limited to a specific location, nor that it is somehow the southernmost such bank available, nor that its clientele is limited to supporters of the Confederacy, to the exclusion of "Yankee" money. See Century Distilling Co. v. Continental Distilling Corp., 23 F. Supp. 705 (E.D. PA 1938) ("Dixie" not geographic term). To consider such an appellation geographic would be akin to a claim that the term "Sun

15

Bank" implies a branch office on that fiery orb. <u>See Freedom</u> <u>Savings & Loan Association v. Way</u>, 757 F.2d 1176, 1183 n.5 (11th Cir. 1985), <u>cert. denied</u> 474 U.S. 845 (1985) <u>Gaeta Cromwell, Inc.</u> <u>v. Banyan Lakes Village</u>, 523 So.2d 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). In the latter case, the appellate court affirmed injunctive relief against the use of the trade name, and held that the term "Congress Park" was not geographic in nature, despite the fact that "Congress" was the name of the street on which the enterprise in guestion was located.

Petitioner's own illustration demonstrates the absurdity of its argument. In its initial brief at page 9, Petitioner argues that each separate word of Respondent's name is either geographic or generic, and offers this illustration of its point: [t]he name "First Southern Bank is no more protectable than the name Southern Fried Chicken." Petitioner forgets that the term "Southern Fried Chicken" "functions as the common descriptive name of a product class." <u>A. J. Canfield Company v. Honickman</u>, 808 F.2d 291, 296 (3d Cir. 1986). Like "aspirin" or "cellophane", it is a generic because it is understood by the public as referring to a type of product. <u>Id.</u> Obviously, "First Southern Bank" does not function as a common descriptive name of a product class. Thus, the name is truly arbitrary as a matter of law, i.e., a word in common usage that does not describe the product.

The appellant further ignores the necessity that the terms in the name of the Respondent bank be looked at as a whole, rather than as individual words. Simply showing that a significant number of other parties may use a particular word is not sufficient. The primary consideration is the <u>entire name</u>, and the kinds of business that the parties are engaged in. <u>Safeway Stores, Inc. v. Safeway</u> <u>Discount Drugs</u>, 675 F.2d 1160 (11th Cir. 1982). <u>See also Bastrop</u> <u>National Bank v. First National Bank of Bastrop</u>, No. 83-2064 (W.D. LA Oct. 21, 1983) (Westlaw, 1983 W.L. 442), in which the United States District Court stated:

> [W]e find that here, defendant is about to engage in the banking industry, in which plaintiff is already engaged, under the same name as plaintiff's except as to the first word. . . Considered as a whole, these words have acquired a secondary meaning. . . See also Franklin Mint Corp. v. Master Mfg. Co., 667 F.2d 1005, 1007 (U.S. Ct. of Customs and Patent App., 1981) (as to trade marks 'a mark should not be dissected and considered piece meal' determining the in likelihood of confusion).

Finding that the words of the plaintiff bank's name, when used together, have acquired a secondary meaning within the community, that court enjoined the defendant from using its name.

When looking at third party uses, the court must consider both the entire name used by the third party user as well as the kind of business in which the user is engaged. <u>See Id. Gold Kist, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, 708 F. Supp. 1291. In its brief, Petitioner cites a number

17

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

of banks or other corporations utilizing the word "southern" as well as another number of businesses utilizing the term "first." This analysis is flawed for two reasons: First, it does not, as Petitioner has admitted, consider the comparable use of the complete term "First Southern Bank." Petitioner failed to demonstrate any business, anywhere in Florida, with the combined name "First Southern." Secondly, and most importantly, Petitioner failed to demonstrate banks using the name First Southern in the relevant subject geographic market.<sup>3</sup> Indeed, the inquiry is not the mere existence of third parties using the name. The inquiry must include the nature of the business of any third party user and whether that third party directly competes in the geographic Id. at 2397; see also Union National Bank of Texas, market. Laredo, Texas v. Union National Bank of Texas, Austin, Texas, 909 F.2d 839 (5th Cir. 1990) and Great Western Financial Corporation v. Great Western Savings & Loan Association of Oklahoma City, 406 F. Supp. 1286 (W.D. Okla. 1975). In Union National, the court further considered whether others in the same business would generally need the terms in question to adequately describe their product or service. Clearly, the Petitioner does not need the term "southern"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court in <u>Gold Kist</u> held that the mere introduction of copies of registrations in third parties is insufficient. The third parties must be shown to be using the names in the same type of business, in competition with the plaintiff for information of third party use to be any meaning. 708 F. Supp. at 1297.

to adequately describe its banking services and could easily have adopted another nonconflicting name when advised of the potential conflict by the Respondent well in advance of the date on which Petitioner opened its bank facilities in Florida.

Finally, it must be pointed out that each and every case cited by the Petitioner in its brief is clearly either distinguishable as a matter of fact or law, or can be shown to stand for a legal proposition that actually supports the position of the Respondent. Gaeta Cromwell, Inc., cited above, affirmed injunctive relief against use of the trade name, holding that the term "Congress Park" was arbitrary, and not geographic or descriptive, despite the location of the enterprise in question and despite the general dictionary definitions of the individual terms contained therein. Similarly, in American Bank of Merritt Island v. First American Bank and Trust, 455 So.2d 443 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the court held that while the three separate words in "First American Bank" may be considered generic, the use of those words in conjunction creates a protected situation. That court held that the terms "American" and "bank," despite their individual nature, when used together do not create a generic term such as "shredded wheat."

<u>American Heritage Life Insurance Company v. Heritage Life</u> <u>Insurance Company</u>, 494 F.2d 3 (5th Cir. 1974) states that the term "generic" conveys information about the nature of services or product provided, and that a descriptive term identifies

19

CARUANA, GORDON AND LANGAN, P.A.

characteristics of the service, color or odor, function, dimensions or ingredients thereof. Neither "first" nor "southern," let alone "first southern" are suggestive of the basic nature of the services provided by the appellee bank. This is unlike the situation in American Television and Communication Corp. v. American Communications and Television, Inc., 810 F.2d 1546 (11th Cir. 1987), also cited by Petitioner. There, the subject name truly described the services provided, television and communication services, and the mark was therefore held to provide a description of such services. However, that court held that if the name bears no relationship to the product or service, it is protectable without proof of secondary meaning. Id. at 1549. Again, neither "first" nor "southern" are terms descriptive of the service provided and are therefore protectable by virtue of the interpretation of law provided by the Eleventh Circuit Court.

First Southern Federal Savings & Loan Association of Mobile, Alabama v. First Southern Federal Savings & Loan Association of Jackson County, Mississippi, 614 F.2d 71 (5th Cir. 1980) supports Respondent's position that the court's findings regarding the likelihood of confusion should not be disturbed, absent a showing of clear error. Moreover, contrary to Petitioner's presentation, the court in that case looked to several factors, in addition to the type of mark, to determine if, under Mississippi law, the similarity was "reasonably calculated to deceive the public and

injure appellant." Id. at 74. Again, the court deferred to the trial court's findings in this regard. The court also focused on the Erie doctrine to point out that its conclusion was based on Mississippi law. Compare Dixie Oil Co. v. Picayune, 66 Oil Co., 246 So.2d 839 (Miss. 1971) ("Dixie" not protected when parties are over 100 miles apart, with no overlapping territory) with Century Distilling, supra, ("Dixie" is protected). Furthermore, the Mississippi case of First Southern is distinguishable to the extent that the two institutions in question there were located in separate states, as their respective names clearly indicate, whereas those in the instant case are in competition in a relatively limited geographical area. Although the owner of a service mark does not have to be in direct competition with a subsequent user in order to maintain a cause of an action under Florida's anti-dilution statute, such competition or potential competition is a significant factor which may be considered in such matters. Tio Pepe, Inc. v. El Tio Pepe De Miami Restaurant, Inc., 523 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

<u>Freedom Savings & Loan</u>, cited above, supports the argument that the term "first southern" is not suggestive of the financial services provided by a bank and therefore would be highly protected as arbitrary or fanciful, similarly to "sun bank." <u>Kellogg Co. v.</u> <u>National Biscuit Co.</u>, 305 U.S. 111 (1938) simply holds that generic names are not protectable if they communicate information regarding

the nature or class of the article or service, such as "shredded wheat." Where a name does not communicate such information regarding the nature or class of services provided, protection is certainly and clearly proper.

Sun Banks of Florida, Inc. v. Sun Federal Savings & Loan Assoc., 651 F.2d 311 (5th Cir. 1981), reh. denied, 659 F.2d 1079 (5th Cir. 1981) hinges on the finding that the single word "Sun" used in conjunction with a financial institution is so pervasive in Florida and in nationwide markets that it was so diluted that there was "no likelihood of confusion." Id. at 316. However, the court pointed out that several other factors must be considered, as In three other cases cited by Petitioner, the discussed below. appellate courts also found a likelihood of confusion in enjoining the use of the competing trade names. See Quality Courts United, Inc. v. Jones, 59 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1952); Williamson v. Answer Phone of Jacksonville, Inc., 118 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960); and Western Bank v. Western Bancorporation, 617 P.2d 258 (Or. App. 1980). In Western Bank, despite the defendant's argument that the term "Western Bank" is geographically descriptive, and despite the absence in the names of both parties of similar but nonidentical descriptive terms like "first" or "great", the Court of Appeals of Oregon found that not only had secondary meaning been established for the combined term "Western Bank", but that a likelihood of confusion among customers in the market area had been demonstrated,

and on that basis injunctive relief was appropriate. 617 P.2d at 262. In the present case, the evidence revealed and the trial court found, both actual and likelihood of confusion. Here, the experts concluded, based on surveys and reported confusion, that the residents of the relevant market were likely to confuse the two banks. The trial court's finding was properly affirmed by the Fourth District and should not be disturbed.

### SIMILARITY IN SERVICES

As demonstrated above, the name "First Southern Bank" is an arbitrary name deserving the highest protection. However, the strength of the name alone is not to be viewed in a vacuum. The court must compare the closeness of the plaintiff and defendant's product in the relative competing market. As the court in Gold Kist, Inc., supra, explained: "Even if the Court were to conclude that [the] trademark is relatively 'weak' because of the thirdparty uses, the Court finds that any limitation on Gold Kist's right to protect its mark would be inapplicable to this case because the products involved are closely related." 708 F. Supp. Thus, the court must consider the similarity of services at 1298. Freedom Savings & Loan offered by Petitioner and Respondent. Association v. Way, supra, 757 F.2d at 1183.

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